FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/20/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK FILED 11/7/2024 Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington

Case #: 1036043

SUPREME COURT NO
NO. 58296-1-I
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
${f v}.$
MATTHEW MERZ,
Petitioner.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY
The Honorable Thad Scudder, Judge
PETITION FOR REVIEW

MAYA RAMAKRISHNAN
Attorney for Petitioner
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
The Denny Building
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250
Seattle, Washington 98121
206-623-2373

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
B.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Underlying Facts
	2. Charges and Trial6
	3. Appeal 8
D.	ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW
	1. This Court should grant review to clarify what constitutes sufficient evidence that an act occurred in Washington
E.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Green</u> 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)11
<u>State v. Hanna</u> 123 Wn.2d 704, 871 P.2d 135 (1994)
<u>State v. Hickman</u> 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998)
<u>State v. Jameison</u> 4 Wn. App. 2d 184, 421 P.3d 463 (2018)
<u>State v. Norman</u> 145 Wn.2d 578, 40 P.3d 1161 (2002)
<u>State v. Squally</u> 132 Wn.2d 333, 937 P.2d 1069 (1997)
<u>State v. Vasquez</u> 178 Wn.2d 1, 309 P.3d 318 (2013)
FEDERAL CASES
<u>Jackson v. Virginia</u> 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979) 11

<u>IABLE OF AUTHORITIES</u> (CONT D)
Page
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.21, at 108 (4th ed. 2016)
RAP 13.4
RCW 9A.04.030
RCW 9A.040.030
U.S. CONST. amend. XIV
WASH. CONST. art. I, § 22

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner Matthew Merz seeks review of the court of appeals' unpublished decision in <u>State v. Merz</u>, No. 58296-1-II filed October 8, 2024 (attached).

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. A jury was instructed that to convict Mr. Merz of computer trespass in the first degree, it must find that that the act occurred in Washington. There was no evidence at trial about where any act occurred. Does insufficient evidence support the conviction, requiring reversal and dismissal with prejudice?
- 2. A jury was instructed that to convict Mr. Merz of electronic data theft, it must find that that the act occurred in Washington. There was no evidence at trial about where any act occurred. Does insufficient evidence support the conviction, requiring reversal and dismissal with prejudice?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Underlying Facts

A long time Kalama resident with a commitment to public service, Matthew Merz was elected to Kalama City Council in 2019 and took office in early 2020. RP 139-140. Shortly after Mr. Merz was sworn into office, Kalama's Clerk/Treasurer, Constance McMaster distributed computers, email accounts and passwords to a group of city councilmembers. RP 121, 134, 142. The passwords were written on yellow sticky notes affixed to the computers. RP 133, 142. Each councilmember's username and password were identical, except for one number, corresponding with their elected position. RP 118, 143. Each councilmember's password was "cc2020p[position number]." RP 143. For example, Mr. Merz's password was "cc2020p5" because his position was position 5. RP 143.

Individual Kalama City councilmembers serve as liaisons between different city departments and the council. RP 141. Mr. Merz was the council liaison to the planning commission. RP 141.

Councilmember John Stanfill was the council liaison to the police department. RP 120-121.

In August 2021, Christopher Jensen of Salem, Oregon, began to contact Mr. Merz using Facebook, and made repeated threats to his life. RP 143-44. Mr. Jensen appeared to be experiencing significant mental health issues. RP 143-44. After Mr. Merz blocked Mr. Jensen on Facebook, Mr. Jensen acquired Mr. Merz's phone number and campaign email address, and continued to threaten Mr. Merz by phone, text message and by email. RP 145. Mr. Jensen contacted Mr. Merz approximately 300 times in three months. RP 145.

Kalama police informed Mr. Merz that Mr. Jensen had been communicating with them as well. RP 144-45. Because Mr. Merz believed Mr. Jensen was located several hours away in Salem, Oregon, he was not initially concerned for his physical safety. RP 145. But as the harassment continued, Mr. Merz became increasingly afraid. RP 146. Mr. Merz reached out to law

enforcement and ensured they were aware that Mr. Jensen was continuing to threaten him. RP 146.

On December 26, 2021, Mr. Jensen arrived at Mr. Merz's uncle's house in Kalama, next door to Mr. Merz's home. RP 146. Mr. Merz was terrified and immediately contacted law enforcement. RP 147. Mr. Merz then discovered that Mr. Jensen had been in Kalama for nearly two weeks. RP 147. Mr. Jensen had been arrested after breaking into a hotel room, had been released, and had been sleeping in his car in Kalama since then. RP 147. Mr. Merz also learned that law enforcement had been aware that Mr. Jensen had been in Kalama, as had the city administrator, but no one had reached out to Mr. Merz to tell him that the person who had been threatening him for months was physically present in the community. RP 148. To Mr. Merz, this seemed like an immense failure of duty. RP 148.

Mr. Merz felt that for his safety and the safety of his family, he needed more information. RP 149. Additionally, as a city councilmember, he was concerned about the actions of the police

department. RP 149. Because Mr. Stanfill was the liaison to the police department, Mr. Merz believed that the police chief might have shared additional information with Mr. Stanfill. RP 149.

Hoping to learn more about what was happening, Mr. Merz logged into Mr. Stanfill's city council email account on January 2, 2022. RP 114, 150. Because of the uniform passwords, Mr. Merz was aware of Mr. Stanfill's password. RP 150.

In Mr. Stanfill's email account, Mr. Merz discovered emails pertaining to a police advisory committee, which had not been formerly created by the city council. RP 150-51. Mr. Merz had been trained that, to be consistent with Washington law, everything the city council does must be in public. RP 151. Mr. Merz believed this committee constituted illegal activity. RP 151.

Mr. Merz consulted with two other city councilmembers and a county commissioner. RP 151. After discussing the matter with these colleagues and reported what he had found—and how he had found it—to law enforcement. RP 152. On January 3, 2022, Mr. Merz spoke to Deputy James Hansberry at the Cowlitz County

Sheriff's Office. RP 96. Initially, they spoke by phone, and then upon the Deputy's request, Mr. Merz came to the Hall of Justice in Kelso, Washington to meet with Deputy Hansberry. RP 95.

2. Charges and Trial

Mr. Merz was charged for one count of computer trespass in the first degree and one count of electronic data theft. CP 4-5. Each count alleged that the acts occurred in Washington. CP 4-5.

At trial, Mr. Merz testified. RP 138. He did not deny accessing the email account, but argued he was authorized to do so as a member of the city council. RP 149-150. The officers to whom Mr. Merz had reported, including Deputy Hansberry, Mr. Stanfill, and Ms. McMaster also testified. RP 94-134.

There was no evidence presented at trial as to Mr. Merz's location at the time that he accessed Mr. Stanfill's email. After the state rested, Mr. Merz moved for a directed verdict, arguing there was no jurisdiction, because there was no evidence Mr. Merz's acts took place in Washington. RP 136. The court denied the motion, explaining:

[i]n terms of, I guess, the venue and really -- I would deny that Motion. The email accounts that were accessed were City of Kalama accounts. And by accessing a City of Kalama account, I think that even if there's a server somewhere else, and I don't know, I think that satisfies the jurisdictional requirement.

RP 137-38.

Nevertheless, without objection from the prosecution, the court instructed the jury that to convict Mr. Merz of computer trespass in the first degree, each of the following four elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) On or about January 2, 2022, the defendant intentionally gained access to a computer system or electronic database of another;
- (2) That the defendant gained access without authorization;
- (3) The access involves a computer or database maintained by a government agency; and
- (4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 26 (Instruction 6).

Without objection from the prosecution, the court instructed the jury that to convict Mr. Merz of electronic data theft, each of the

following four elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) On January 2, 2022, the defendant intentionally obtained electronic data;
- (2) That the defendant obtained the data without authorization;
- (3) That the defendant had no reasonable grounds to believe that he had authorization to obtain the data;
- (4) That the defendant acted with intent to wrongfully control, gain access to, or obtain electronic data; and
- (5) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 30 (Instruction 10).

The jury found Mr. Merz guilty on both counts. CP 34-35.

3. Appeal

On appeal, Mr. Merz argued that both convictions—computer trespass and electronic data theft—were not supported by sufficient evidence because under law of the case doctrine, the prosecution was required to prove that these acts occurred in Washington, and there was no evidence at trial supporting this conclusion. Division Two affirmed the convictions and held that a rational finder of fact could infer that Mr. Merz's acts had occurred

in Washington because there was evidence that he was in Washington the following day when he met with Deputy Hansberry. Opinion at 7.

D. <u>ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW</u>

1. This Court should grant review to clarify what constitutes sufficient evidence that an act occurred in Washington

This Court should grant review to clarify what evidence is sufficient to prove an element set forth in nearly every to convict instruction in Washington—that the criminal acts occurred in Washington. Because the Court of Appeals decision impermissibly relies on speculation, it is at odds with precedent from this Court and the Court of Appeals. Further, this Court should grant review because identically worded jurisdictional elements appear in to-convict instructions often and there is almost no published case law as to how this element can and should be proved.

"Proof of jurisdiction beyond a reasonable doubt is an integral component in of the State's burden of proof in every

P.2d 1069 (1997). Most often, the prosecution proves jurisdiction by proving that the alleged crime was committed in Washington State. <u>State v. Norman</u>, 145 Wn.2d 578, 589, 40 P.3d 1161 (2002).

An act occurring in Washington is not the only way the prosecution may prove jurisdiction. See RCW 9A.040.030 (2)-(7). But it is so frequently the method used that it appears in the general pattern jury instruction, as well as in many pattern to-convict instructions as an element that the prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt, for a broad variety of crimes. 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.21, at 108 (4th ed. 2016).

When the location of the criminal act is included in the to convict instruction, and the prosecution does not object, it becomes the law of the case, and the prosecution is required to prove that location beyond a reasonable doubt, regardless of whether jurisdiction could otherwise be proved in another way. See State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101, 954 P.2d 900 (1998).

Due process requires that a criminal defendant be convicted only when every element of the charged crime is proved beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. CONST. amend. XIV; WASH. CONST. art. I, § 22; Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). There is insufficient evidence to support a conviction if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, no rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319. While all reasonable inferences should be drawn in favor of the prosecution, "inferences based on circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 16, 309 P.3d 318 (2013). When an inference supports an element of the crime, possibility is not enough—due process requires the presumed fact to flow more likely than not from proof of the basic fact. State v. Hanna, 123 Wn.2d 704, 710, 871 P.2d 135 (1994); State v. Jameison, 4 Wn. App. 2d 184, 200, 421 P.3d 463 (2018).

Here, there was no evidence at trial about where Mr. Merz was when he logged into Mr. Stanfill's email account and downloaded emails. Mr. Merz testified candidly about his actions, but did not testify as to where he was. There were no other witnesses to Mr. Merz's acts, and there was no other evidence as to his location during the acts. Instead, the prosecution argued that the act occurred in Washington, because "Mr. Stanfill's city email account is a city email account, belonging to the city of Kalama, which is within the State of Washington." RP 180.

In its decision, Division Two observed that there was ample evidence that the email account belonged to the city of Kalama, and that Kalama is in Washington, before holding that it is reasonable to infer Mr. Merz's acts took place in Washington because there was evidence in the record that he met with a Deputy Sheriff in Kelso, Washington the day after the acts. Opinion at 5-7.

The Court of Appeals confuses reasonable inferences with speculation. Kalama, where Mr. Merz lived at this time, and Kelso, where Mr. Merz met with the deputy the following day are both located on the Oregon-Washington Border. It takes less than twenty minutes to drive from either city across the Lewis and Clark bridge into Oregon. Mr. Merz's presence in Kelso on January 3, 2022, upon Deputy Hansberry's request for an inperson meeting, does not give rise to a reasonable inference as to Mr. Merz's location the previous day, or even at any other time that day. To reach any conclusion whatsoever about Mr. Merz's location when he was logging in to Mr. Stanfill's email account and downloading emails, a juror would have to speculate.

It is unclear from the decision whether the Court of Appeals also relied on the City of Kalama's ownership of the email account as evidence of where Mr. Merz acted. See Opinion at 6. While the relationship between the email account and the City of Kalama may have satisfied the statutory jurisdictional requirements under RCW 9A.04.030(5), it did not prove that Mr.

Merz acted in Washington. Whether an email account belongs to a Washington municipality has no bearing on where the acts of logging into that email account and downloading emails occurred. An email account can be accessed from nearly anywhere in the world. There is no logical inference about where Mr. Merz's acts occurred from who owned the email account.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals decision mistakes speculation for reasonable inferences, despite the published case law from both this Court and the Court of Appeals. Moreover, because while the prosecution is required to prove that an act occurred in Washington in nearly every criminal case, there is little guidance for courts as to what inferences are reasonable in determining where a person's act occurred. This is increasingly salient in an increasingly online world—as demonstrated by this case, it is not always obvious where an online action took place. For this reason, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons discussed above, Mr. Merz respectfully asks that this Court grant review and reverse the court of appeals.

DATED this 7th day of November

I certify this document is in 14-point font and contains 2405 words, excluding those portion exempt under RAP 18.17.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC

Maya Farm

MAYA RAMAKRISHNAN, WSBA No. 57562

Attorneys for Petitioner

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 58296-1-II

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW MICHAEL MERZ,

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Appellant.

VELJACIC, A.C.J. — Matthew M. Merz appeals his conviction for computer trespass in the first degree and electronic data theft. He argues that there is insufficient evidence to support his convictions because the State did not prove these acts occurred in the State of Washington. Merz further argues that the mandatory victim penalty assessment (VPA), deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) collection fee, and \$250 jury demand fee must be stricken. In his statement of additional grounds for review (SAG), Merz raises multiple claims. Finding no error affecting Merz's convictions, we affirm Merz's convictions but remand with instructions to strike the VPA, DNA collection fee, and jury demand fee.

FACTS

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Merz is a resident of Kalama, Washington. Merz took office as a Kalama City Council member for a four-year term in 2020. When Merz and his colleagues first took office, the city clerk/treasurer, Constance McMaster, issued them laptops and an assigned e-mail address and

password that were unique to them. The format of that password was CC2020PX: CC for city council, 2020 for the year the council member took office, P for position, and X was each elected official's position number.

On August 31, 2021, Christopher Jensen sent threatening Facebook messages to Merz, which suggested to him that Jensen had some mental health issues. Merz blocked Jensen when he began receiving text messages and e-mails threatening his life. Jensen called Merz at 2:00 AM one morning, which concerned Merz. Then, on December 26, Jensen showed up at Merz's uncle's house, which was next door to Merz's own house. Merz became aware that Jensen had been in Kalama since December 15 and that law enforcement and the city administrator had been aware of his presence, yet they failed to warn him.

At trial, Merz testified that he needed to know what was going on with regard to Jensen's presence in Kalama. To gain information, Merz deduced his fellow council member, Jonathan Stanfill's, e-mail password by reasoning that each council member's account had similar log-in information. Merz logged into Stanfill's e-mail account without Stanfill's authorization. He chose Stanfill's city e-mail account because Stanfill acted as the liaison between the city council and the police department. Merz was "looking for information on individuals targeting him." Rep. of Proc. (RP) at 115. He found communication pertaining to Jensen, as well as a folder titled "Police Committee." RP at 150. He admitted to downloading information from Stanfill's account. Merz believed that Stanfill and the police department created a new committee and a new position in the city without the city council's or the public's knowledge. He believed he had discovered multiple crimes and reported his information to the Cowlitz County Sheriff's Office.

⁻

¹ There are conflicting reports as to whether Merz guessed or knew what he was doing. Deputy James Hanberry and Detective Troy Lee said in an interview with Merz that Merz guessed it, but Merz says that he knew what he was doing.

On January 3, 2022, Merz spoke with Detective James Hanberry to discuss the e-mails he saw. Hanberry asked Merz to come to the sheriff's office and provide a written statement, which he did. Hanberry wrote a report that included copies of the e-mails Merz saw and downloaded, and forwarded the report and its attachments to Cowlitz County detectives.

On January 4, 2022, Detective Troy Lee began investigating. Lee felt that the allegations of unlawfully accessing an e-mail account and extracting electronic data files warranted further investigation. On January 7, Lee contacted Stanfill and informed him of the information and e-mails in the report, and sought to obtain more information from Stanfill. Lee later met with Stanfill in person, where Stanfill provided him with an Internet Protocol (IP) address. Lee met with Merz and read him his *Miranda*² rights prior to discussing the matter. Merz signed a waiver that included the *Miranda* warnings about his constitutional rights. After speaking with Merz about what Merz uncovered in Stanfill's e-mail, Lee advised Merz that he was under arrest. The State charged Merz with computer trespass in the first degree and electronic data theft.

II. TRIAL

During the State's direct examination of Stanfill, it established that each council member's computer and account were given by the city of Kalama for the purpose of conducting city business. The computer and account were considered property of the city of Kalama. Stanfill noted his account was accessed by an unfamiliar IP address four times on January 1 and January 2. During the State's direct examination of McMaster it once again established that the accounts were city of Kalama's accounts.

After the State rested its case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict, arguing that there was no showing that the acts occurred in the State of Washington. Defense counsel noted

² Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

that there was no evidence admitted from any Internet provider establishing the location or the IP address. The State responded that the accounts were city of Kalama controlled accounts, implying that they are within the State of Washington. The trial court rejected defense counsel's motion because the e-mail accounts that were accessed were city of Kalama accounts, therefore satisfying the jurisdictional requirement. Merz does not assign error to the trial court's denial of his motion.

Merz testified. Defense counsel asked him where he lived. Merz replied, "Kalama, Washington" RP at 139.

The State proposed a definition of "without authorization." Defense counsel proposed a definition of "data." The court accepted both definitions. The court asked both parties if there were any concerns about any of the other proposed instructions; neither party raised a concern.

Instruction 6, regarding computer trespass in the first degree reads as follows:

To convict the defendant of the crime of Computer Trespass in the First Degree, each of the following four elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) On or about January 2, 2022, the defendant, intentionally gained access to a computer system or electronic database of another;
 - (2) That the defendant gained access without authorization;
- (3) The access involves a computer or database maintained by a government agency; and
 - (4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington

Clerk's Papers (CP) at 26 (emphasis added).

Instruction 10 regarding electronic data theft read as follows:

To convict the defendant of the crime of Electronic Data Theft, each of the following five elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) On January 2, 2022, the defendant, intentionally obtained electronic data:
 - (2) That the defendant obtained the data without authorization;
- (3) That the defendant had no reasonable grounds to believe that he had authorization to obtain the data;
- (4) That the defendant acted with intent to wrongfully control, gain access to, or obtain electronic data; and
 - (5) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

CP at 30 (emphasis added).

During the State's closing arguments, the State reiterated several pieces of evidence that were presented during the trial. The State argued that both acts occurred in the state of Washington because "Stanfill's city email account is a city email account belonging to the city of Kalama, which is within the State of Washington." RP at 180.

The jury ultimately found Merz guilty of the crimes of computer trespass in the first degree and electronic data theft. The trial court found him indigent. Nevertheless, it imposed a \$500 VPA, a \$100 DNA collection fee, and a \$250 jury demand fee as legal financial obligations (LFOs).

Merz appeals his convictions.

ANALYSIS

I. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Merz argues that there was insufficient evidence for a jury to find that his acts occurred in the State of Washington. We disagree.

A. Standard of Review

Due process of law requires that the State prove every element of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 105, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). Challenges to sufficiency of the evidence are questions of constitutional law that we review de novo. *State v. Rich*, 184 Wn.2d 897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (2016).

When evaluating whether evidence is sufficient to support a conviction, we must determine whether any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. *Id.*

Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

"A claim of insufficiency [of evidence] admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d at 201. We do not review credibility determinations. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

B. Legal Principles

Computer trespass in the first degree occurs when a person intentionally gains access without authorization to a computer system or electronic database of another and the access is made with the intent to commit another crime or the violation involves a computer or database maintained by a government agency. RCW 9A.90.040(1).

Electronic data theft occurs when a person intentionally and without authorization, and without reasonable grounds to believe that he or she has such authorization, "obtains any electronic data with the intent . . . to [d]evise or execute any scheme to defraud, deceive, extort, or commit any other crime in violation of a state law . . . or to [w]rongly control, gain access to, or obtain money, property, or electronic data." RCW 9A.90.100(1).

C. Sufficient Evidence Exists to Support Merz's Convictions

The core of Merz's argument is that the State failed to prove the acts occurred in the state of Washington. We disagree.

Council member Stanfill, the user of the account that Merz accessed without authority, testified that each council member's computer and account were given by the city of Kalama for the purpose of conducting city business and that the computer and account were considered property of the city of Kalama. McMaster also testified that the accounts were city of Kalama accounts. Indeed, Merz himself testified that Kalama is located within the state of Washington.

Additionally, the evidence showed that Merz logged into Stanfill's e-mail account on January 2. Merz then met with Hanberry in person in Washington on January 3. A reasonable inference from the evidence is that Merz was in the state of Washington at the time he accessed Stanfill's city e-mail account without authorization or permission.

Based on the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence, sufficient evidence exists for the jury to find that Merz committed computer trespass in the first degree and electronic data theft within the state of Washington. The State met its burden of proof.

II. LFOs

Merz next argues that we should remand to the trial court to strike the VPA, the DNA collection fee, and jury demand fee based on recent legislative changes and because he is indigent. The State concedes that we should remand for the trial court to strike the VPA, DNA collection fee, and jury demand fee.

Effective July 1, 2023, RCW 7.68.035(4) prohibits courts from imposing the crime victim penalty assessment on indigent defendants. *State v. Ellis*, 27 Wn. App. 2d 1, 16, 530 P.3d 1048, *pet. for rev. filed*, 102378-2 (2023). The legislature also amended RCW 43.43.7541 to require waiver of a DNA collection fee imposed before July 1, 2023 upon the defendant's motion. LAWS of 2023, ch. 449, § 4. RCW 10.46.190 explains that "[t]he court shall not order a defendant to pay costs . . . if the court finds that the person at the time of sentencing is indigent." LAWS OF 2022, ch. 260, § 20. Here, the court found Merz indigent.

We accept the State's concession and remand for the trial court to strike the VPA, DNA collection fee, and jury demand fee.

III. SAG ISSUES

In his SAG, Merz raises numerous arguments that can be combined into five issues: prosecutorial misconduct, ineffective assistance of counsel, duress, entrapment, and prosecutorial vindictiveness.³ We find no error.

A. Prosecutorial Misconduct

Merz claims that the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office engaged in prosecutorial misconduct in numerous ways. Specifically, Merz contends that the prosecuting attorney's office withheld evidence to protect the purported wrongdoing of fellow council member Stanfill and the police chief who created a taskforce. He appears to argue that he provided public records of "deleterious activity" by council member Stanfill and police chief Herrera but the prosecuting attorney's office did nothing about it. SAG 3. He also contends that he provided evidence that an individual within the city of Kalama deleted a death threat sent to his city e-mail. Merz further contends that the prosecuting attorney's office and the Cowlitz County Sheriff's Office withheld this evidence to conceal a criminal conspiracy by individuals within the city of Kalama. Merz also claims that the sheriff's office, prosecuting attorney's office, Public Defense Attorney Daniel Counsel, Cowlitz County Superior Court, and the jury ignored or were intentionally not made aware of Merz's rights under the Public Records Act located at chapter 42.56 RCW, the Intent of the Cybercrimes Act at RCW 9A.90.010, and other sections of law governing transparency, accountability, and oversight in government. Merz further claims that the

_

³ Merz also appears to allege that Cowlitz County Jail Director, Marin Fox, maliciously and recklessly endangered his life within the Cowlitz County Jail to intimidate him. This argument is not based on our record and would be more properly brought in a personal restraint petition. *See State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) ("If a defendant wishes to raise issues on appeal that require evidence or facts not in the existing trial record, the appropriate means of doing so is through a personal restraint petition.").

prosecuting attorney's office wrongfully created a right of privacy for Stanfill. Presumably, Merz intends that such allegations, if true, would provide a defense to his convictions.

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's conduct was improper and prejudicial. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The defendant bears the burden of proving that there is a reasonable probability that a reasonable juror's judgment would have been affected by the withheld evidence. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). However, if a defendant is raising prosecutorial misconduct for the first time on appeal, an error is waived unless the defendant establishes that the "misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. While some of Merz's arguments were raised below and some are raised for the first time on appeal, his arguments all fail because he cannot meet even the lowest standard of prejudice to warrant relief. Merz fails to demonstrate prejudice affecting the outcome of his case. There is nothing in the record to suggest that Merz's allegations of prosecutorial misconduct would have a reasonable probability of undermining confidence in the jury's verdict.

Next, Merz alleges that the prosecuting attorney's office falsely claimed that record requests are required of elected officials and that their false claims were refuted by McMaster, the city clerk. However, McMaster actually testified that council members have access to information regarding activities that they are performing and that do not have to go through a formal public records request to gain that information. Nothing in the record suggests that Merz's initial foray into Stanfill's e-mail account was for actions related to his activities as a council member. Merz admits that he accessed Stanfill's e-mail account without authorization because of the private

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