FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/7/2025 3:36 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

> NO. 1036043 COA NO. 582961-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

MATTHEW MERZ,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN P. JURVAKAINEN Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney

RUSSELL LUTTMAN, WSBA #58437 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney Hall of Justice 312 SW First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080 Office ID No. 91091

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The evidence presented at trial reasonably inferred that the criminal acts committed by Merz occurred in the State of Washington.

Merz claims that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), and (2), that in the decision of the Court of Appeals Division II, the court mistakes speculation for reasonable inference. Merz claims that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4), that the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that requires a determination of this Court. The State responds that the decision of the Court of Appeals was not mistaken in its review, that the law provided clear guidance to the Court of Appeals for the purposes of review, and that this matter does not warrant further review.

The Court of Appeals recognized that the core of Merz' argument was that the State failed to prove that Merz' acts occurred in the State of Washington, Opinion Page 6, a question of the sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial. Sufficiency of the evidence is a question of constitutional law that requires review de novo. *State v. Rich*, 184 Wash.2d 897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (2016). The State is required to prove all elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The State bears the burden of proving all the elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Green*, 94 Wash.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

However, a reviewing court need not itself be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt, *State v. Jones*, 63 Wash.App. 703, 708, 821 P.2d 543, *review denied*, 118 Wash.2d 1028, 828 P.2d 563 (1992), and must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Walton*, 64 Wash.App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533, review denied, 119 Wash.2d 1011 (1992).

The Court of Appeals found that the reasonable inferences of the cumulative evidence presented at trial was persuasive that Merz' criminal acts occurred in the State of Washington. Opinion 6-7. Inferences based on circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation. State v. Vasquez, 178 Wash.2d 1, 16, 309 P.3d 318 (2013). "In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is not to be considered any less reliable than direct evidence." State v. Delmarter, 94 Wash.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). All reasonable inferences must be drawn in the State's favor and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. State v. Joy, 121 Wash.2d 333, 338-39, 851 P.2d 654 (1993).

The State recognizes that there are unique and challenging aspects to proving the elements of cybercrime, since cybercrime can occur when a bad actor located out of

state may be able to criminally impact persons or entities located in the State of Washington. However, the Court of Appeals was able to consider that not only did Deputy Hanberry and Detective Lee testify that Merz admitted to them that he had accessed Stanfill's Kalama city email account and downloaded electronic data without authorization, but Merz testified to the same facts himself at trial. VR153 ln 10-18. Additionally, Merz did not reach out to law enforcement from another jurisdiction to report his findings, but understanding the perceived issues at hand were local to the City of Kalama, in the State of Washington, Merz reported the data he collected from Stanfill's account to Cowlitz County Sheriff's personnel. VR95 ln 5 - 23, VR113 ln 4-5. The Court of Appeals notes that evidence presented showed that Merz contacted the Cowlitz County Sheriff's office on January 3, one day after accessing Stanfill's email account. Opinion Page 7. Merz testified that he accessed Stanfill's Kalama city email account on January 2, 2022. VR114 ln 20-23.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals found that the evidence presented at trial reasonably inferred that Merz' criminal acts occurred in the State of Washington, that the State met its burden of proof. Opinion 7. The direct and circumstantial evidence presented at trial overwhelms the Merz' contention that his actions did not occur in Washington. For the above stated reasons, the State asks the Court to decline review, and that Merz' conviction be affirmed.

///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///